1	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA				
_					
2					
3	DAVID A. GONZALEZ, an individual,	Electronically Filed Supreme CourANg.30 2021 11:48 p.m			
4	Appellant,	82762 Elizabeth A. Brown			
5	V.	Clerk of Supreme Cour	t		
6	STATE OF NEVADA - NEVADA				
7	STATE OF NEVADA; NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF CONSERVATION	District Court No.:			
8	AND NATURAL RESOURCES;	A-20-820596-C			
9	NEVADA DIVISION OF FORESTRY;				
10	STEPHEN F. SISOLAK, in his official				
	capacity as Governor of Nevada; BRADLEY CROWELL, in his official				
11	capacity as Director of Nevada				
12	Department of Conservation and Natural				
13	Resources; and KACEY KC, in her

I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION.

Jurisdiction is proper in the instant matter pursuant to NRAP 3A(a) and NRAP 3A(b)(1), which provide, respectively, that "[a] party who is aggrieved by an appealable judgment or order may appeal from that judgment or order, with or without first moving for a new trial," and "[a]n appeal may be taken from the following judgments and orders of a district court in a civil action: (1) A final judgment entered in an action or proceeding commenced in the court in which the judgment is rendered." This matter is before the Court pursuant to an Order of Dismissal, entered by the Eighth Judicial District Court on February 24, 2021, satisfying both NRAP 3A(a) and NRAP 3A(b)(1).

II. ROUTING STATEMENT.

This matter is presumptively and properly retained by the Supreme Court under the authority of NRAP 17(a)(11) and/or NRAP 17(a)(12), which, respectively and in relevant part, provide that "[t]he Supreme Court shall hear and decide... "[m]atters raising as a principal issue a question of first impression involving the United States or Nevada Constitutions or common law; and [m]atters raising as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance...." Broadly, the principal issue before the Court is the applicability of Article 15, Section 16 of the Constitution of the State of Nevada (the "Minimum Wage Amendment") to prison

inmates and/or individuals incarcerated in the State of Nevada, such that the Minimum Wage Amendment entitles them to receipt of the state minimum wage.

Unequivocally, discernment and application of the will of the people of the State of Nevada, as expressed in the twice-passed¹ Minimum Wage Amendment and in regard to inmates who are citizens and residents of the State of Nevada, raises a question of statewide public importance. Additionally, as was noted by this Court on December 26, 2019, in *White v. State*, 454 P.3d 736, 739 (Nev. 2019), "whether inmates are entitled to the minimum wage under our constitution is an open question in Nevada." Since *White* and in the intervening two years, that question remains unreviewed and unanswered, so the instant matter is one of first impression before the Court. Retention by the Supreme Court is, therefore, proper.

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

As noted above and in the Docketing Statement filed on April 13, 2021, the principal issue before the Court is whether or not the plain language of the Minimum Wage Amendment, which incorporates its own uniquely drafted definitions for "Employee" and "Employer,"² such definitions being distinct from

Added in 2006. Proposed by initiative petition and approved and ratified by the people at the
 26 2004 and 2006 General Elections.

²⁷ ² "Employee" means any person who is employed by an employer as defined herein but does not include an employee who is under eighteen (18) years of age, employed by a nonprofit organization for after school or summer employment or as a trainee for a period not longer than ninety (90) days. "Employer" means any individual, proprietorship, partnership, joint venture,

any prior-enacted statute or state administrative or regulatory code, requires payment of the state minimum wage to all non-excluded employees in the State of Nevada, to include inmates employed in Nevada, and, more specifically, as is the case with the Appellant, those working out of Nevada Department of Corrections ("NDOC") conservation camps for the Nevada Division of Forestry ("NDF"). Additionally, as raised below, the issues before the Court also include consideration of the applicability to the Minimum Wage Amendment of the "economic realities" test, presently only adopted for certain statutory regimes in the State of Nevada, and, if applicable, whether or not Appellant and similarly situated inmates are "employees" under the noted test for purposes of the Minimum Wage Amendment.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

The standard of review for the instant matter is de novo. "This court reviews issues of law de novo." *Hawley v. Kaufman*, Nos. 46634, 46705, 46706, 2008 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 1, at *2 (May 8, 2008). "Constitutional issues... present questions of law that we review de novo." *Awada v. Shuffle Master, Inc.*, 123 Nev. 613, 618, 173 P.3d 707, 711 (2007); *see also Lewis v. Lewis*, 132 Nev. 453, 455, 373 P.3d 878, 879 (2016) ("However, the court reviews constitutional issues de novo.")

²⁸ corporation, limited liability company, trust, association, or other entity that may employ individuals or enter into contracts of employment.

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

On September 2, 2020, Appellant DAVID A. GONZALEZ ("Appellant" or "Mr. Gonzalez"), at the time¹ an inmate in the Nevada Department of Corrections ("NDOC") Three Lakes Valley Conservation Camp ("TLVCC") working for the Nevada Division of Forestry ("NDF"), filed his Complaint in the Eighth Judicial District Court for various causes of action, seeking economic damages, *inter alia*, based on entitlement to receive the minimum wage under Article 15, Section 16 of the Nevada Constitution (the "Minimum Wage Amendment" or "MWA").

Following Respondents' Motion to Dismiss, this matter is before the Court on appeal from the District Court's February 24, 2021, Order of Dismissal, in which it found that claims for violation of the MWA are subject to the "economic realities" test, Appellant is not a defined and eligible employee under such test or the MWA, and Appellant's claims under the MWA are precluded by NRS 209.461(8), which the District Court found not in conflict with nor impliedly repealed by the MWA. Appellant urges that all such findings and conclusion of law are in error.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY.

The procedural history of the case is brief and as follows:

1. On September 2, 2020, Appellant filed his Complaint.

¹ Mr. Gonzalez is no longer incarcerated, having been recently paroled.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

3.

2. On October 23, 2020, Respondents filed their Motion to Dismiss.

3. On November 5, 2020, Appellant filed his Opposition.

On November 12, 2020, Respondents filed their Reply in Support of Motion.
 On January 12, 2021, the hearing on Respondents' Motion to Dismiss was held before Judge Adriana Escobar, at which time the Motion was granted.

 On February 24, 2021, the District Court entered its Order of Dismissal, and, on March 11, 2021, Respondents filed the Notice of Entry of Order of Dismissal.
 On April 8, 2021, Appellant timely filed his Notice of Appeal.

Given the brief procedural history of the case and the early dismissal of the matter below solely on questions of law, there were no new facts adduced or following from prosecution of the matter thus far. Relevant facts are fully detailed in Appellant's Complaint with exhibits, somewhat succinctly reproduced here.

1. From December 18, 2018, until early 2021, Mr. Gonzalez was a member of a TLVCC "project crew," employed by the NDF "to perform work related to firefighting... and other work projects" in accordance with NRS 209.457(2)(a).

2. Mr. Gonzalez, was employed primarily in the performance of project work for vegetation management, pursuant, upon information and belief, to contracts under NRS 209.457(3)(a) between the NDF and Lake Mead National Recreational Area, Nevada Department of Transportation, various water districts, and others.

Mr. Gonzalez was paid approximately \$3 per day when engaged on project

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

23

26

work. Prior to his supplemental chainsaw training, Mr. Gonzalez was paid \$2 per day, reflecting an increase from the initial ninety (90) days at \$1 per day.

Although under the control and custodial authority of the NDOC, Mr. 4. Gonzalez' salary, in accord with the language of NRS 209.457, was paid directly by the NDF (listed as "OA - Outside Agency Payroll" on the NDOC account statements to Mr. Gonzalez), subject to deductions by the NDOC, as applicable.

Pursuant to NRS 209.231(3) and NRS 472.040(1)(h), the State Forester 5. Firewarden determined the amount of wages paid to Mr. Gonzalez.

On April 29, 2020, Mr. Gonzalez submitted an informal grievance to the 6. NDOC which was denied on June 10, 2020. The grievance was held improper and non-grievable with the NDOC for lack of standing, as the "NDF is not an NDOC entity." Mr. Gonzalez was advised he "must address [his] issue directly with NDF." On June 29, 2020, pursuant to NAC 527.550(1) or, in the alternative, NAC 7. 527.560(1), Mr. Gonzalez submitted a verified petition to the NDF and State Forester Firewarden KC requesting relief in accord with the MWA.²

22 8. On August 6, 2020, State Forester Firewarden KC denied Mr. Gonzalez' petition, concluding that she "is... free to set any wage for offenders participating 24 in conservation camp programs." 25

²⁷ ² To the extent that it was even necessary to do so (Appellant does not believe it is required here), the efforts described in this Section in Paragraphs 6 and 7 sufficiently exhaust any required 28 administrative remedies.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

III.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT.

Are working inmates in Nevada slaves or employees? With no intent to engage in hyperbole or be unduly melodramatic, that is ultimately the substance if not the exact text of the questions to be answered by this Court. It is fully understood that slavery and involuntary servitude may lawfully be imposed under the Thirteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, "as a punishment for crime whereof the party [is] duly convicted," but, for obvious and easily understood reasons, this allowance is not relied upon by the State of Nevada to compel completely unremunerated labor from Nevada inmates. Neither slavery nor involuntary servitude are actually imposed as a specific element of criminal sentencing in Nevada, and inmates are generally paid for most labor they perform. though, realistically, the nominal "wage" inmates receive offers more value to the State, insomuch as it may, equally nominally, avoid the specter of slave ownership. The current system, as formulated here in Nevada and throughout much of the United States, largely avoids the disapprobation of inmate slavery and the budgetary implications associated with a fair wage by the facile manipulation of language, redefining "employer" and "employee" in such ways as to almost inevitably and unavoidably assure that inmates cannot and will not be entitled to the minimum wage. With respect to the federal Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA") and most state statutory schemes, including Nevada statutes, the matter is well settled law, with

GALLIAN WELKER & BECKSTROM, L.C. 540 East St. Louis Avenue Las Vegas, Nevada 89104 Phone 702-892-3500 || inmates only rarely being allowed access to a minimum wage.

The State of Nevada has an opportunity here to strike a different course, and, in Appellant's view of the MWA, it has already done so, pending the Court's affirmation. The MWA, as passed by the legislature and Nevada voters presents newly formulated definitions for "employee" and "employer," applicable only to the consideration of who is eligible to receive a minimum wage in Nevada. Since the Nevada Constitution is the supreme law of the State, controlling over conflicting statutory provisions,³ prior statutory and regulatory definitions for "employer" and "employee," are inapposite for evaluation under the MWA, as is any caselaw related to interpretation of any such preexisting definitions. It is inarguable that the MWA creates a broad definition of "employer" and "employee," conferring the benefit of a minimum wage on the vast majority of employed individuals with minimal exclusions from the definition of "employee." Inmates in Nevada are not in those exclusions, and they and the State easily satisfy the relevant definitions of "employee" and "employer." A constitutional amendment is not subject to interpretation for intent, standing on its plain language and what it says,⁴ and the MWA plainly says inmates are properly employees under the State Constitution.

Respondents argue that the plain language of the MWA is facially

GALLIAN WELKER & BECKSTROM, L.C. 540 East St. Louis Avenue Las Vegas, Nevada 89104 Phone 702-892-3500 1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

^{28 &}lt;sup>3</sup> *Thomas v. Nev. Yellow Cab Corp.*, 130 Nev. 484, 488, 327 P.3d 518, 5201 (2014). ⁴ Id. at 490.

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

1

2

3

4

insufficient for adjudication, asserting the "economic realities" test governs interpretation of the MWA. As a matter of law, this is simply not the case. Adoption of the "economic realities" test in the State of Nevada has historically been incremental and strictly pursuant to the imprimatur of the Nevada Supreme Court, most recently adopted in Terry v. Sapphire Gentlemen's Club, 336 P.3d 951, 130 Nev. 879 (2014) to apply to claims brought under NRS 608.250 (and other minimum wage laws... not constitutional amendments). The Court has at no time, explicitly, held that the "economic realities" test would be applicable to claims brought exclusively under the MWA, so, as a matter of law, the "economic realities" test does not, at least not yet, govern Appellant's claim.

To the extent the Court may be inclined to adopt the "economic realities" test for claims brought under the MWA and, more specifically, to inmate seeking relief thereunder, Appellant urges this would be in error. The Court has opined that it finds the MWA's "employer" and "employee" definitions more tautological than those in statute,⁵ but, in doing so, it recognized the broadness of those definitions was intentional and for the purpose of assuring that even more persons in Nevada would be entitled to the minimum wage.⁶ In the clear light of this intention, without which the MWA would have been entirely unnecessary (as sufficient minimum

⁵ Terry v. Sapphire Gentlemen's Club, 336 P.3d 951, 955, 130 Nev. 879, 884 (2014). 28 ⁶ Id.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

wage statutes existed prior to the amendment's enactment), strict reversion to a reliance on the prior and statutorily based "economic realities" test risks rendering the entire MWA even more tautological than any definitions contained therein. In applying the "economic realities" test, the Court would inadvertently supplant the MWA and the concomitant wishes of the state legislature and the State's voters.

In *Terry*, the Court resorted to the "economic realities" test, relying on the general premise that such test has been identified by the United States Supreme Court as both "broad" and "comprehensive."⁷ In analyzing a more conventional "employee" versus an "independent contractor"⁸ (a more apropos application), as in *Terry*, this may generally be true, but, in the context of inmate employment, the opposite is much more prevalent, such that classifying any inmate as an "employee" is a task best characterized as Herculean or Sisyphean or in some manner likely to require the aid of some ancient deity. While paying lip service to the idea that some circumstances may arise in which an inmate could be classified as an "employee" under the "economic realities" test, caselaw never yields such a broad and comprehensive outcome, primarily because courts narrowly find that an inmate's

24

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

25 ⁷ See Id.

²⁶ ⁸ Interestingly, given this functional purpose for the test, it is quite telling that no Court has ever found inmates to be "independent contractors," which is arguably the conclusion of the test for 27 those deemed not to be "employees." Under prior caselaw, inmates are, generally, neither employees nor independent contractors, so it beggars belief to assert that this particular test is 28 somehow an accurate means to define the legal status of an employed inmate.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

labor belongs not to him/herself, but to the prison in which they are incarcerated. See generally Hale v. Arizona, 993 F.2d 1387 (9th Cir. 1993); Morgan v. MacDonald, 41 F.3d 1291 (9th Cir. 1994); and Vanskike v. Peters, 974 F.2d 806 (7th Cir. 1992). To assert that an individual's labor belongs entirely to someone else is the very definition of slavery, and this is the status quo which the "economic realities" test, when applied to inmates, seeks to perpetuate indefinitely.

The conventional use of the "economic realities" test is simply entirely inapposite here for the Appellant, and the State's endeavors to avoid the definition of an inmate as an "employee," make a mockery of the State's own statutory use of the word. EMPLOYMENT OF OFFENDERS is the title of the relevant statutory chapter (NRS 209.457 to 481) regarding just that, and EMPLOY-formative words are used therein over sixty times, yet the State asserts that inmates are not employees.⁹ It is an irreconcilable linguistic absurdity, but, if the Court should require that further guidance is required to evaluate the employment status of inmates, such that it adopts the "economic realities" test with respect to Appellant's claims, Appellant argues that, as someone incarcerated and controlled by the NDOC and trained, employed, and paid by the NDF, all the elements of the "economic realities" test are satisfied. Appellant engaged in voluntarily employment (such that

⁹ To paraphrase "The Princess Bride," the State keeps using that word, but I don't think it means 28 what they think it means. Inconceivable!!

his labor reasonably belonged to him, not to the State), and a singular entity controlled all such employment and all aspects thereof, namely, the State of Nevada.

Lastly, Respondents resort to NRS 209.461(8), which provides that the "provisions of [NRS 209] do not create a right on behalf of the offender to employment or to receive... minimum wage for any employment and do not establish a basis for any cause of action against the State... for employment of an offender or for payment of the federal or state minimum wage to an offender," and the District Court has held this to be applicable and not impliedly repealed. Appellant does not find it to be applicable, as the Appellant did not seek relief under NRS 209, so any lack of a cause of action thereunder is irrelevant. Appellant's claim is solely founded in the MWA, and NRS 209 holds no sway. To the extent that the two are in conflict, the MWA must prevail, and NRS 209.461(8) should be stricken.

In sum, the Minimum Wage Amendment stands alone without need for augmentation by inapposite statutory aids, and, in so doing, by not excluding inmates, it, perforce, includes them in the definition of an "employee" with an entitlement to the state minimum wage. Even if found to be germane, the "economic realities" test does not logically or reasonably apply to consideration of inmate employment, nor, in the instant circumstance, would it prevail over the Appellant's claims. Accordingly, Appellant's claims for relief should be granted, predicated on a proper finding that inmates are "employees," as defined in the MWA, laborers worthy of their hire, and payable in accordance with the state minimum wage.

IV. ARGUMENT.

a. The Constitution of Nevada is the supreme law of the State and controls over any conflicting statutory provisions or interpretations thereof; the MWA is the primary source for defining entitlement to minimum wage in Nevada.

"The Nevada Constitution is the supreme law of the state, which control[s] over any conflicting statutory provisions." *Thomas v. Nev. Yellow Cab Corp.*, 130 Nev. 484, 488, 327 P.3d 518, 520 (2014) (internal citations omitted). The court "will construe statutes, if reasonably possible, so as to be in harmony with the constitution [, but] when a statute is irreconcilably repugnant to a constitutional amendment, the statute is deemed to have been impliedly repealed by the amendment." *Id.* "A constitutional amendment, adopted subsequent to the enactment of the statute... is controlling over the statute that addresses the same issue. **Statutes are construed to accord with constitutions, not vice versa**." *Id.* at 489 (internal citations omitted, emphasis added).

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