#### No. 82762

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DAVID A. GONZALEZ, an individual,

Electronically Filed Sep 29 2021 11:23 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF NEVADA; NEVADA DEPARTMENT OF CONSERVATION AND NATURAL RESOURCES; NEVADA DIVISION OF FORESTRY; STEPHEN F. SISOLAK, in his official capacity as Governor of Nevada; BRADLEY CROWELL; in his official capacity as Director of Nevada Department of Conservation and Natural Resources; and KACEY KC, in her official capacity as Nevada State Forester Firewarden; collectively,

Respondent.

On Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada Case No. A-20-820596-C

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Nevada courts utilize an economic reality test to determine whether an employer-employee relationship exists between parties. Though this test focuses on several different, non-uniform, factors across various state and federal cases, Nevada case law recognizes that such a determination is truly based on the totality of the circumstances. Nevada courts further follow federal case law when interpreting minimum wage statutes, as this Court has recognized the legislature's intent for Nevada minimum wage laws to run parallel and be consistent with federal law.

Here, consistent with federal case law, Nevada inmates are not employees under totality of circumstances; minimum wage laws are designed to prevent

2

individuals from falling into substandard living conditions. Federal courts have recognized that this purpose does not apply to those who are incarcerated because life essentials are already provided – food, shelter, clothing, medical attention and educational opportunities.

As such, NRS 209.461(8) does not conflict with Nevada's Minimum Wage Amendment. Additionally, if this Court looks to traditional economic reality test factors, such as level of purported employer control, permanence of the relationship, skill required and investment in materials (among other factors), any similarities to traditional employee-employer relationships are more related to the nature of incarceration.

#### ARGUMENT

## I. Mr. Gonzalez is Not an Employee Under Article 15, Section 16 of The Nevada State Constitution

## A. Nevada Courts Utilize the Economic Reality Test Consistent with Federal Case Law

The Nevada Supreme Court, in *Terry v. Sapphire Gentlemen's Club*, 336 P.3d 951, 130 Nev. 879 (2014), has adopted an "economic realities" test to determine whether an employment relationship exists between purported employees and employers for claims arising under NRS 608.010. There, the Court found that certain adult performers met the statutory definition of "employee" under NRS 608.250, while also recognizing that NRS 608 was superseded by Article 15, Section 16 of

the Nevada State Constitution, citing *Thomas v. Nevada Yellow Cab Corp*, 130 Nev. 484. *Terry*, 336 P.3d at 954. In *Terry*, the original complaint was brought under NRS 608.250 and not the MWA. Nevertheless, the Court reasoned that both definitions of employee and employer under NRS 608.010, NRS 608.011 and the MWA required a more instructive aid – the federal Fair Labor Standards Act "economic realities" test – to determine the exact relationship between appellant and respondent and do so in harmony with Nevada legislative intent for Nevada minimum wage laws to "run parallel" to federal law, at least in many significant respects. *Terry*, 336 P.3d at 955

The Court held:

Thus, the Legislature has not clearly signaled its intent that Nevada's minimum wage scheme should deviate from the federally set course, and for the practical reasons examined above, our state's and federal minimum wage laws should be harmonious in terms of which workers qualify as employees under them. We therefore adopt the FLSA's "economic realities" test for employment in the context of Nevada's minimum wage laws.

(Emphasis added) Id at 958.

Nevada courts may, therefore, follow federal case law in applying the

economic reality test, including an examination of the totality of the circumstances:

Thus, the economic realities test examines the **totality of the circumstances** and determines whether, as a matter of economic reality, workers depend upon the business to which they render service for the opportunity to work. See *Goldberg v. Whitaker House Coop., Inc.,* 366 U.S. 28, 32-33, 81 S.Ct. 933, 6 L.Ed.2d 100 (1961); *Juino v. Livingston Parish Fire Dist. No.* 5, 717 F.3d 431, 434 (5th Cir.2013).

Given this backdrop, this court has difficulty fathoming a test that would encompass more workers than the economic realities test, short of deciding that all who render service to an industry would qualify, a result that NRS Chapter 608 and our case law specifically negate. See NRS 608.255; *Prieur*, 102 Nev. at 474, 726 P.2d at 1373.

Thus, to the extent that our test could only, from a pragmatic standpoint, seek to be equally as protective as the economic realities test, and having no substantive reason to break with the federal courts on this issue, "judicial efficiency implores us to use the same test as the federal courts" under the FLSA. See *Moore v. Labor & Indus. Review Comm'n*, 175 Wis.2d 561, 499 N.W.2d 288, 292 (Wis.Ct.App.1993) (adopting, for analogous state law purposes, the test used by federal courts to determine whether someone is an employee for the purpose of a claim under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e (2012))

(emphasis added) Id. at 956-957.

The State has argued that the holdings in Hale v. Arizona, 993 F.2d 1387 (9th

Cir. 1993), Morgan v. MacDonald, 41 F.3d 1291 (9th Cir. 1994) and Vanskike v.

Peters, 974 F.2d 806 (7th Cir. 1992) are determinative, each case having interpreted

the FLSA in terms if inmate minimum wage claims. Specifically, "the primary

policy concern of the FLSA-ensuring a minimum standard of living for all

workers—is simply inapplicable to prisoners 'for whom clothing, shelter, and food

are provided by the prison." Morgan, 41 F.3d. at 1292.

#### B. Federal Appellate Courts Have Consistently Found That Inmates Do Not Meet The Definition Of Employee Under The FLSA

In *Morgan*, where an inmate was employed as a computer troubleshooter for the Education Center which was located on the grounds of the Ely State Prison, "[t]he prison contracted with the White Pine County School Board to operate the Education Center; the two entities then agreed to let inmates perform various jobs there. The inmates are paid a nominal salary each week, at a rate below the minimum wage established by the FLSA." *Morgan*, 41 F.3d. at 1292. The District Court dismissed the complaint alleging a violation of the FLSA's minimum wage requirement.

On appeal, the 9<sup>th</sup> Circuit held the minimum wage provisions of the FLSA did not apply to the inmate because he was not an "employee" as defined by the FLSA. The Court reaffirmed the holding of *Hale v. Arizona*, 993 F.2d 1387 (9th Cir. 1993), explaining that:

"... [T]he primary policy concern of the FLSA - ensuring a minimum standard of living for all workers - is simply inapplicable to prisoners "for whom clothing, shelter, and food are provided by the prison."

Under Nev. Rev. Stat. § 209.461, all inmates are required to work or receive training for 40 hours each week. Thus, Morgan was in no sense free to bargain with would-be employers for the sale of his labor; his work at the prison was merely an incident of his incarceration. See *Vanskike*, 974 F.2d at 809 (prisoner's employment with prison didn't "stem from any remunerative relationship or bargained-for exchange of labor for consideration, but from incarceration itself'). Morgan and the prison didn't contract with one another for mutual economic gain, as would be the case in a true employment relationship; their affiliation was "penological, not pecuniary." *Hale*, 993 F.2d at 1395. Because the economic reality of Morgan's work at the prison clearly indicates that his labor "belonged to the institution," *id.* at 1395, he cannot be deemed an employee under the FLSA.

Id. at 1292-1293.

As indicated in the citation above, the *Morgan* court relied on another federal decision which has provided the framework for most courts in analyzing the issue of prison labor under the auspices of the FLSA. In *Vanskike v. Peters*, 974 F.2d 806 (7th Cir. 1992), the Court explained that "[t]he Thirteenth Amendment [ of the United States Constitution] excludes convicted criminals from the prohibition of involuntary servitude, so prisoners may be required to work. Further, there is no Constitutional right to compensation for such work; compensation for prison labor is 'by grace of the state.'" *Vanskike*, 974 F.2d at 809.

The *Vanskike* court recognized that although the United States Constitution provides that prisoners are not guaranteed a wage at all, let alone a minimum wage, "[t]hat there is no Constitutional right does not, however, foreclose the possibility of a statutory right to compensation." *Id.* The Court then went on to address the FLSA to determine whether its minimum wage provisions applied to prisoners.

On the outset, the *Vanskike* Court recognized that "courts have generally declined to extend the FLSA's minimum wage provision to prisoners who work in prison." *Id.* at 807-808, citing *Miller v. Dukakis*, 961 F.2d 7,8 (1<sup>st</sup> Circuit. 1992); *Gilbreath v. Cutter Biological, Inc.* 931 F.2d 1230, 1328 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1991); *Alexander v. Sara, Inc.*, 721 F.2d 149, 150 (5th Cir. 1983); *Wentworth v. Solem*, 548 F.2d 773, 775 (8th Cir. 1977); *Emory v. United States*, 2Cl. Ct. 579, 580 (1983, affd, 727 F.2d 1119 (Fed. Cir. 1983); *Worsley v. Lash*, 421 F. Supp. 556, 556 (N.D. Ind. 1976);

*Sims v. Parke Davis & Co.*, 334 F. Supp. 774, 787 (E.D. Mich. 1971), affd, 453 F.2d 1259 (6<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1971); *Hudgins v. Hart*, 323 F. Supp. 898, 899 (E.D. La. 1971); *Huntley v. Gunn Furniture Co.*, 79 F. Supp. 110, 116 (W.D. Mich. 1948).

However, to determine whether the FLSA applied, the Court reiterated that "[b]ecause status as an 'employee' for purposes of the FLSA depends on the totality of circumstances rather than on any technical label, courts must examine the 'economic reality' of the working relationship." Id. In applying that test, the Court concluded the minimum wage provisions of the FLSA did not apply to inmates work assignments. In addition to several other reasons, the Court "emphasize[d] that Vanskike was not in a true economic employer-employee relationship with the DOC, so the statutory language does not cover him." Id. at 812. The Court recognized the economic reality test may not be the best measure for prison related labor because the "factors fail to capture the true nature of the relationship for essentially they presuppose a free labor situation. Put simply, the DOC's 'control' over Vanskike does not stem from any remunerative relationship or bargained-for exchange of labor for consideration, but from incarceration itself. The control that the DOC exercises over a prisoner is nearly total, and control over his work is merely incidental to that general control." Id. at 809.

The Vanskike Court further reasoned that the FLSA was inapplicable because:

The first purpose of the FLSA has little or no application in the context presented here. Prisoners' basic needs are met in prison,

irrespective of their ability to pay. Requiring the payment of minimum wage for a prisoner's work in prison would not further the policy of ensuring a "minimum standard of living," because a prisoner's minimum standard of living is established by state policy; it is not substantially affected by wages received by the prisoner. It is true, as Vanskike points out, that some cases have characterized the FLSA's primary purpose more specifically, as aimed at "substandard wages and oppressive working hours." Barrentine v. Arkansas-Best Freight Sys., Inc., 450 U.S.728, 739, 101 S.Ct. 1437, 1444, 67 L.Ed.2d 641 (1981). The evil of substandard wages, however, as just noted, does not apply where worker welfare is not a function of wages. As for oppressive working hours, Vanskike alleges only that he was underpaid, not that he was overworked, so only the minimum wage provision of 29 U.S.C. § 206, and not the separate working-hours provision of § 207, is directly at issue here. A prisoner may, of course, challenge his conditions of incarceration under applicable statutory and Constitutional provisions such as the Eighth Amendment. But the fundamental goal of ensuring workers' welfare and standard of living does not call for the application of the minimum wage in these circumstances.

(Emphasis added) Id. at 810-811.

While not referenced in *Vanskike*, another important consideration is that inmates receive other valuable consideration for performing a work assignment such as the one presented by NDF: reduced sentence. Pursuant to NRS 209.449, inmates receive work credits for performing work assignments. The ability to obtain these work credits to reduce a sentence is certainly a valuable commodity that is not easily quantified in monetary terms.

As here, under *Morgan* and *Hale*, inmates are held to be required to perform work as a condition of their incarceration. See *Morgan*, 41 F.3d. at *Id*. (citing NRS 209.461(1)(b) as applied to Nevada inmates under the FLSA); *Hale*, 993 F.2d 1387

at 1398. Because *Morgan* examined the economic realities of Nevada inmates, *Morgan* is factually and analytically on point for the Court's determination: NRS 209.461(1)(b) still requires, to the extent practicable, Nevada inmates to either receive vocational training or work 40 hours per week as a condition of incarceration, subject to behavioral, medical, or educational exclusions. Further, the Nevada Department of Corrections (NDOC) may provide inmates to the NDF under NRS 209.457(3) which allows the NDF to utilize inmates to perform work as specified in the statute, provided that an inmate volunteering for a work program meets certain eligibility requirements under NRS 209.457(2)(a) and NRS 209.4615.

The only Nevada Supreme Court decisions to consider inmate eligibility for minimum wage compensation are *Prieur v. D.C.I. Plasma Ctr.*, 102 Nev. 472, 726 P2d 1372 (1986) and *White v. State*, 454 P.3d 736, 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 67 (2019). However, the Court in *Prieur*, sitting prior to the enactment of the MWA, recognized but did not employ the economic reality test; instead, ultimately finding that no employment relationship existed between Nevada inmates and a private company because the State and the company were the sole contracting parties. See *Prieur*, 726 P2d 1372 at 1373. Similarly, *White* was decided on other workers' compensation grounds. See *White*, 454 P.3d at 739-40. Nevertheless, the Court in *Prieur* signaled that it was open to examining the economic realities of incarceration in terms of employment. See *Prieur*, 726 P.2d 1372 at *Id. Prieur* can therefore be read

consistently with *Terry*, which was decided after the enactment of the MWA and which specifically applied the economic realities test to both Nevada law and the FLSA. See *Terry*, 336 P.3d at 955-957. As such, this court may examine the economic realities of Nevada inmates to determine whether an employment relationship exists.

Under the totality of the circumstances, factors and policies analyzed in *Terry*, *Hale*, *Morgan* and *Vanskike*, parallel to and consistent with federal law, the purpose of any minimum wage law is to prevent members of the general public from falling into substandard living conditions. The economic realities of incarceration are distinct and separate from those faced by the general public because inmates are guaranteed housing, meals, medical attention and are able to participate in work programs under NRS 209.457(2)(a) and in exchange for sentence reduction credits under NRS 209.449. The reality of incarceration is further not based on a pecuniary relationship between inmates and the state. Therefore, there is no employment relationship between inmates and the state.

#### II. Article 15, Section 16 of the Nevada State Constitution Does Not Impliedly Repeal NRS 209.461(8)

Mr. Gonzalez argues that the MWA impliedly repealed NRS 209.461(8). Mr. Gonzalez relies on *Thomas v. Nevada Yellow Cab Corp.*, 327 P.3d 518, 130 Nev. 484 (2014), in which a taxi-driver exception to Nevada's Wage and Hour Law was

held to be subsequently repealed by the enactment of the MWA, precisely because taxi-drivers were not explicitly exempted under the MWA.

NRS 209.461(8) is not an exception to the MWA or any other prior minimum wage law. In fact, NRS 209 does envision some circumstances in which minimum wage may be applicable to inmates. NRS 299.463(1) provides for certain deductions "if inmates earn more than the federal minimum wage." However, such wage determinations are solely within the discretion of the director, and in this case the Forester Firewarden, under NRS 209.231(3) and NRS 472.040(1)(h). There remains no requirement under NRS 209 that inmates are entitled to minimum wage. It should be noted that NRS 209.231(3), NRS 472.040(1)(h) and NRS 209.457 explicitly do not refer to inmates as "employees" Rather, each statute refers simply to "offenders" whose wage are set by the Forester Firewarden or are used for work projects by the Forester Firewarden.

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